Unique Device Identifier (UDI) Requirements for Combination Products

Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff

DRAFT GUIDANCE

This guidance document is being distributed for comment purposes only.

Comments and suggestions regarding this draft document should be submitted within 90 days of publication in the *Federal Register* of the notice announcing the availability of the draft guidance. Submit electronic comments to <u>https://www.regulations.gov</u>. Submit written comments to the Dockets Management Staff (HFA-305), Food and Drug Administration, 5630 Fishers Lane, Rm. 1061, Rockville, MD 20852. All comments should be identified with the docket number listed in the notice of availability that publishes in the *Federal Register*.

Additional copies are available from: Office of Combination Products, Food and Drug Administration WO32, Hub/Mail Room #5129, 10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver Spring, MD 20993 (Tel) 301-796-8930; (Fax) 301-847-8619; <u>https://www.fda.gov/combination-products</u>

For questions regarding this document, contact the Office of Combination Products at 301-796-8930 or <u>combination@fda.gov.</u>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Office of Combination Products (OCP) Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH)

June 2025

Draft — Not for Implementation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION1
II.	BACKGROUND
	A. Unique Device Identification System2
	B. Combination Products
III.	UDI REQUIREMENTS FOR COMBINATION PRODUCTS 4
	A. Is my combination product subject to UDI requirements, and if so, what requirements apply?
	B. Does FDA have recommendations for whether to use a UDI or an NDC for combination products and any other recommendations regarding UDI for the device constituent parts of combination products?
	C. I purchase the device constituent parts of my co-packaged combination product from a supplier. How do the UDI requirements apply to me?
	D. How do I submit information to the Global Unique Device Identification Database (GUDID) for my combination product?
IV.	EXAMPLES9
	A. Single-Entity Combination Product Examples10
	B. Co-Packaged Combination Product Examples10
	endix - Summary of the UDI requirements and related recommendations for bination products and their device constituent parts

Draft — Not for Implementation

Unique Device Identifier (UDI) Requirements

for Combination Products

Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff

2 3

1

4 5

6

7

8

9

10

11

This draft guidance, when finalized, will represent the current thinking of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA or Agency) on this topic. It does not establish any rights for any person and is not binding on FDA or the public. You can use an alternative approach if it satisfies the requirements of the applicable statutes and regulations. To discuss an alternative approach, contact the FDA staff responsible for this guidance as listed on the title page of this guidance.

12 13

14

15

I. INTRODUCTION

16 This document is intended to assist industry and FDA staff in understanding how FDA's unique

17 device identifier (UDI) requirements at 21 CFR part 801 subpart B and part 830 subpart E apply

18 to combination products with device constituent parts. This guidance outlines the requirements,

recommendations, and best practices for UDI labeling and for submission of information to theGlobal Unique Device Identification Database (GUDID) for such combination products. This

20 Global Olique Device Identification Database (GODID) for such combination products. This 21 guidance also provides some hypothetical examples to illustrate how UDI requirements can be

22 met for these combination products.

23

24 Throughout this guidance document, the terms *we* and *our* refer to FDA staff. *You* and *your*

- 25 refer to the labeler of the combination product.¹
- 26

27 In general, FDA's guidance documents do not establish legally enforceable responsibilities.

28 Instead, guidances describe the Agency's current thinking on a topic and should be viewed only

as recommendations, unless specific regulatory or statutory requirements are cited. The use of

30 the word *should* in Agency guidances means that something is suggested or recommended, but

31 not required.

¹ As defined in 21 CFR 801.3, *labeler* means:

- (1) Any person who causes a label to be applied to a device with the intent that the device will be commercially distributed without any intended subsequent replacement or modification of the label; and
- (2) Any person who causes a label to be replaced or modified with the intent that the device will be commercially distributed without any subsequent replacement or modification of the label, except that the addition of the name of, and contact information for, a person who distributes the device without making any other changes to the label, is not a modification for purposes of determining whether a person is a labeler.

As explained in this guidance in regard to UDI requirements, the device at issue may be a constituent part of a combination product. See 21 CFR part 801 subpart B and part 830 subpart E.

Draft — Not for Implementation

32 II. BACKGROUND

33 34

35

A. **Unique Device Identification System**

36 FDA established the unique device identification system on September 24, 2013 (78 FR 58786) (UDI rule). The UDI rule requires that the label and device package of every medical device 37 bear a UDI, unless an exception or alternative applies² (see 21 CFR 801.20). UDI is defined as 38 "an identifier that adequately identifies a device through its distribution and use by meeting the 39 40 requirements of [21 CFR 830.20]" (21 CFR 801.3). The UDI is composed of two parts (see 21 41 CFR 801.3):

42 43

44

45

• Device Identifier (DI) – a mandatory, fixed portion of a UDI that identifies the specific version or model of a device and the labeler of that device, and

46 • Production Identifier (PI) – a conditional, variable portion of a UDI that identifies one or 47 more of the following when included on the label of the device: (1) the lot or batch within which a device was manufactured; (2) the serial number of a specific device; (3) 48 49 the expiration date of a specific device; (4) the date a specific device was manufactured; 50 (5) for a human cell, tissue, or cellular or tissue-based product (HCT/P) regulated as a 51 device, the distinct identification code required by 21 CFR 1271.290(c).

53 The UDI rule also requires specified information to be submitted to FDA's GUDID (see 54 21 CFR part 830 subpart E).

55

52

56 The UDI rule is intended to create a standardized identification system for medical devices used 57 in the United States. As stated in the preamble of the UDI rule, the goals of implementing a

58 standardized identification system are to rapidly and definitively identify a device and some key 59 attributes that affect its safe and effective use (78 FR 58786). Under the UDI rule, each labeler

60 must use one or more systems operated by FDA or an FDA-accredited issuing agency to assign

61 UDIs that appear on, as applicable, device labels, device packages, and devices themselves as

direct markings (21 CFR 801.20, 801.45, and 830.20), and must comply with applicable GUDID 62

63 submission requirements (21 CFR part 830 subpart E).

² In addition to specific exceptions set forth in 21 CFR part 801, 21 CFR 801.55(a) provides labelers the opportunity to request an exception from or alternative to UDI labeling requirements. If requesting an exception, the labeler must, among other things, describe why UDI labeling requirements are not technologically feasible (21 CFR 801.55(a)(3)). If requesting an alternative, the labeler must, among other things, describe the alternative proposed and explain why it would provide for more accurate, precise, or rapid device identification than the UDI labeling requirements or how the alternative would better ensure the safety or effectiveness of the device (21 CFR 801.55(a)(4)). Under 21 CFR 801.55(c), FDA may grant an exception or alternative as set forth in that regulation, either in response to a labeler request or on the Agency's own initiative. Labelers must submit requests for an exception or alternative in writing to the appropriate Center as noted in 21 CFR 801.55(b). FDA also may initiate or grant an exception or alternative if the Agency determines that doing so is in the best interest of public health, as set forth in 21 CFR 801.55(d).

Draft — Not for Implementation

64 B. **Combination Products**

66 Combination products, as described in 21 CFR part 3, are comprised of two or more different 67 types of products (i.e., a combination of a drug, device, and/or biological product with one another).³ Each drug, device, and biological product included in a combination product is 68 referred to as a *constituent part*⁴ of the combination product. The term combination product 69 70 includes:

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

81

65

- A product comprised of two or more regulated components, i.e., drug/device, biological • product/device, drug/biological product, or drug/device/biological product, that are physically, chemically, or otherwise combined or mixed and produced as a single entity (see 21 CFR 3.2(e)(1)). Such products are often described as *single-entity* combination products (e.g., prefilled syringe, transdermal patch, or drug-eluting stent).
- 78 • Two or more separate products packaged together in a single package or as a unit and 79 comprised of drug and device products, device and biological products, or biological and 80 drug products (see 21 CFR 3.2(e)(2)). Such products are often described as *co-packaged* combination products (e.g., surgical and first-aid kits containing drugs and devices). 82
- 83 A drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that according to its • 84 investigational plan or proposed labeling is intended for use only with an approved 85 individually specified drug, device, or biological product where both are required to 86 achieve the intended use, indication, or effect and where upon approval of the proposed 87 product the labeling of the approved product would need to be changed, e.g., to reflect a 88 change in intended use, dosage form, strength, route of administration, or significant 89 change in dose (see 21 CFR 3.2(e)(3)). Such products are often described as cross-90 labeled combination products.
 - Any investigational drug, device, or biological product packaged separately that • according to its proposed labeling is for use only with another individually specified investigational drug, device, or biological product where both are required to achieve the intended use, indication, or effect (see 21 CFR 3.2(e)(4)). Such products are often described as *cross-labeled* combination products.
- 97 98

91 92

93

94

95

96

³ Applicants may seek FDA feedback regarding the classification of a product (e.g., whether it is a combination product as defined in 21 CFR part 3) or its Center assignment. See the guidance for industry How to Write a Request for Designation (RFD) (April 2011) or, if you wish to obtain informal feedback, you may submit a Pre-RFD; see the guidance for industry How to Prepare a Pre-Request for Designation (Pre-RFD) (February 2018). We update guidances periodically. For the most recent version of a guidance, check the FDA guidance web page at https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents. ⁴ See 21 CFR 4.2.

99	III. UDI REQUIREMENTS FOR COMBINATION PRODUCTS
100	
101	This section explains when UDI requirements do and do not apply to combination products, how
102	the requirements can be met, and certain FDA recommendations regarding UDI labeling for
103	combination products.
104	
105	A. Is my combination product subject to UDI requirements, and if so, what
106	requirements apply?
107	
108	Combination products with one or more device constituent parts are generally subject to UDI
109	requirements.
110	
111	Such combination products, however, are considered not subject to UDI requirements if all of
112	their device constituent parts are considered otherwise excepted from UDI requirements. ^{5, 6} For
113	example ⁷ :
114	
115	• 21 CFR 801.30(a)(2) excepts from UDI requirements class I devices that FDA has by
116	regulation exempted from the good manufacturing practice (GMP) requirements of 21
117	CFR part 820, exclusive of any continuing requirement for recordkeeping under §§
118	820.180 and 820.198. If all device constituent parts of a combination product would
119	otherwise be considered class I devices that FDA has by regulation exempted from the
120	GMP requirements of 21 CFR part 820 if they were stand-alone devices intended for the
121	same use in the combination product (hereafter <i>otherwise GMP exempt</i>), then the
122	combination product is considered not subject to UDI requirements. ⁸
123	
124	• 21 CFR 801.30(a)(6) excepts investigational devices within the meaning of 21 CFR part
125	812 from UDI requirements. If the device constituent part of a combination product is an
126	investigational device, then the investigational combination product is considered not
127	subject to UDI requirements.
128	
129	Other exceptions and regulations may be relevant to the applicability of UDI requirements for
130	certain combination products. For example:

⁵ Such exceptions are specific to certain device types and changes to the intended use of a device constituent part may mean the device constituent part does not fall within an exception and thus the combination product may be subject to UDI requirements.

⁶ In such instances, when no device constituent part is required to bear a UDI, subjecting the combination product to UDI requirements would not align with FDA's intent "to make the overall UDI system more efficient and to ensure the burdens imposed by the UDI system are reasonably balanced with its benefits." 77 Fed. Reg. 40736, 40749 (July 2012). Any questions on the applicability of the UDI exceptions to combination products should be directed to combination@fda.gov.

⁷ See also illustrative examples in section IV.

⁸ For additional discussion of the application of GMP requirements to combination products, see the guidance for industry and FDA staff *Current Good Manufacturing Practice Requirements for Combination Products* (January 2017). See 21 CFR part 4 subpart A for GMP requirements for combination products.

131 132 133 134 135 136 137	• 21 CFR 801.30(d) excepts class I devices from including production identifiers in the UDI. If all device constituent parts of a combination product would otherwise be considered class I devices if they were stand-alone devices intended for the same use in the combination product (hereafter <i>otherwise class I devices</i>), then the combination product is considered not subject to production identifier requirements. See section II.A regarding production and device identifiers.
138	• 21 CFR 801.40(d) provides that, for a class I device that bears a universal product code
139	(UPC) on its label, the UPC may serve as the UDI. For a combination product that
140	contains only device constituent part(s) that would be otherwise class I devices, the
141	combination product would be deemed to have met UDI labeling requirements if it has a
142	UPC. ⁹ Moreover, the device constituent part(s) in such a combination product would be
143	deemed to have met the UDI labeling requirements if: (1) each device constituent part in
144	that combination product bears a UPC on its label or (2) the overall combination product
145	bears a UPC on its label (see 21 CFR 801.30(a)(11)).
146	
147	Generally, the requirements that apply to the combination product labeler depend on the type of
148	combination product ¹⁰ (see section II.B regarding types of combination products).
149	
150	
151	
152	(Continued on the next page)

⁹ This aligns with FDA's intent "to make the overall UDI system more efficient and to ensure the burdens imposed by the UDI system are reasonably balanced with its benefits." 77 Fed. Reg. at 40749.

¹⁰ The bullets below assume the combination product contains at least one device constituent part that does not fall into an exception at 21 CFR 801.30(a), and assumes the use of UDI instead of UPC.

Draft — Not for Implementation

153 154 155 156	• Single-Entity Combination Products – A single-entity combination product is required to bear a UDI <i>unless</i> it properly bears a National Drug Code (NDC) (see 21 CFR 801.30(b)(1)). ^{11, 12}
157	• Co-Packaged Combination Products – A co-packaged combination product would be
158	in compliance with UDI labeling requirements if: (1) the combination product bears a
159	UDI or (2) the combination product properly bears an NDC (see 21 CFR 801.30(b)(1))
160	and the label of each device constituent part(s) bears a UDI (801.30(b)(3)). ^{13, 14}
161	
162	- For drug- or biologic-led combination products that properly bear an NDC and do not
163	bear a UDI, the device constituent parts are required to bear a UDI.
164	
165	- For device-led co-packaged combination products that bear a UDI, the device
166	constituent parts are not required to bear UDIs (see 801.30(a)(11)). For example, if
167	device constituent parts are packaged together as a sub-package within a co-packaged
168	combination product, that is a "device convenience kit", ¹⁵ then the individual device
169	constituent parts need not bear a UDI if the device convenience kit bears a UDI (21
170	CFR 801.30(a)(11)).

¹¹ For purposes of the UDI requirements, a product "properly bears an NDC" if, the product is subject to and complies with the barcode label requirements under 21 CFR 201.25, and/or subject to and in compliance with the requirement added by the Drug Supply Chain Security Act (DSCSA) to affix or imprint a product identifier (as defined by section 581(14) of the FD&C Act) on each package and homogenous case of the product under section 582(b)(2) or 582(e)(2) of the FD&C Act. The NDC is included as a component of the standardized numerical identifier (SNI), which, along with the lot number and expiration date, make up the product identifier that is required for many drug products under section 582(b)(2) and (e)(2) of the FD&C Act. Sections 582(b)(2)(B) and (e)(2)(B)clarify that a package that is required to have an SNI is not required to have a UDI. The product identifier is different from the production identifier portion of the UDI. All drug-led combination products are subject to the drug listing requirements described in 21 CFR part 207 and are required to be assigned an NDC. However, not all drug-led combination products that are assigned an NDC will necessarily "properly bear an NDC" because not all drug-led combination products are subject to or in compliance with the barcode label requirements or the requirement to affix or imprint a product identifier on each package and homogenous case of the product. ¹² Device-led single-entity and co-packaged combination products should not bear an NDC as device-led combination products are not subject to part 207 and may be deemed misbranded if the combination product bears an NDC (see 21 CFR 207.37(a)(3)), nor should they bear a product identifier for the same reason because the NDC is part of the product identifier. Additionally, they should not bear a product identifier as device-led combination products are exempt from the DSCSA definition of "transaction" (see section 581(24)(B)(xii)) and therefore do not require a product identifier, which are required under section 582(b)(2) or 582(e)(2) on certain drug products that are intended for introduction in a "transaction" in commerce. However, an NDC may be included on the label of a drug or biological product constituent part of a device-led co-packaged combination product.

¹³ See footnote 11.

¹⁴ See footnote 12.

¹⁵ A convenience kit is "two or more different medical devices packaged together for the convenience of the user" (21 CFR 801.3). As previously noted in guidance, FDA interprets this to mean a device that contains two or more different medical devices packaged together and intended to remain packaged together and not to be replaced, substituted, repackaged, sterilized, or otherwise processed or modified before being used by an end user. See the guidance for industry and FDA staff *Unique Device Identification: Convenience Kits* (April 2019), section II.B.

Draft — Not for Implementation

171 **Cross-Labeled Combination Products** – Because the constituent parts of cross-labeled • 172 combination products are separately distributed, there is no single combination product 173 label. The device constituent parts of a cross-labeled combination product are required to 174 bear a UDI, unless excepted (see 21 CFR 801.20). 175 176 В. Does FDA have recommendations for whether to use a UDI or an NDC for 177 combination products and any other recommendations regarding UDI for 178 the device constituent parts of combination products? 179 180 Combination products can be subject to multiple requirements related to product identification. 181 Moreover, the UDI rule does not prohibit including multiple identifiers (such as the NDC and 182 UDI) on the label or package of a combination product; however, to reduce the risk of error and 183 otherwise facilitate ordering, reimbursement, inventory stocking, or other supply chain activities, 184 among other things, we recommend the following: 185 186 Single-Entity Combination Products – A single-entity device-led combination product • 187 should bear only a UDI and a single entity drug/biologic-led combination product should not bear a UDI if it properly bears an NDC.¹⁶ 188 189 190 **Co-Packaged Combination Products** – 191 192 -When the co-packaged combination product is device led, and the combination 193 product bears a UDI, each device constituent part within the immediate container of 194 the co-packaged combination product is not required to bear a UDI (as described in 195 section III.A); however, those device constituent parts may bear a UDI. 196 197 When the co-packaged combination product is drug or biologic led, and the 198 combination product properly bears an NDC, we recommend that the label of each 199 device constituent part within the immediate container of the co-packaged 200 combination product bear a UDI, and that the combination product not bear a UDI. 201 We understand that for some co-packaged combination products that properly bear an 202 203 NDC, labelers may be able to identify each device constituent part based on information captured in the product identifier¹⁷ and the combination product's quality system (e.g., 204 the device version or model number and device lot/batch for each device). FDA is 205 206 considering what approach or approaches to take in such circumstances, such as granting, 207 on our own initiative, exceptions/alternatives under 21 CFR 801.55 (as permitted and 208 appropriate) for the UDI requirements for types of device constituent parts in such 209 combination products, or having an enforcement discretion policy regarding UDI 210 requirements for such device constituent parts. At this point, we are not considering

¹⁶ See footnote 11.

¹⁷ As described in footnote 11, the product identifier is different from the production identifier portion of the UDI; see footnote 11 for information on product identifier.

211	including circumstances where the device constituent parts are subject to direct marking
212	requirements under 21 CFR 801.45 in our approach(es). ¹⁸ If labelers have specific
213	questions or proposals for a product, contact the lead Center for the product or the Office
214	of Combination Products (OCP), as needed.
215	
216	If multiple identifiers are included on the label or package of a combination product, the
217	identifiers should be clearly marked so users can distinguish between them (e.g., a UDI
218	should be clearly identified as the UDI to distinguish it from an NDC or another identifier
219	also on the label/package). To help clearly identify the UDI, FDA recommends that
220	labelers consider using the UDI symbol contained in the FDA recognized voluntary
220	consensus standard ISO-15223-1:2021 Medical devices — Symbols to be used with
222	information to be supplied by the manufacturer - Part 1: General requirements, see
223	https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfstandards/search.cfm for FDA
223	Recognized Consensus Standards: Medical Devices.
224	Recognized Consensus Standards. Medical Devices.
223	C. I purchase the device constituent parts of my co-packaged combination
227	product from a supplier. How do the UDI requirements apply to me?
228	
229	Firms that manufacture and introduce into interstate commerce co-packaged combination
230	products may receive device constituent parts from a supplier who is itself a labeler subject to
231	UDI requirements. In these situations, the combination product firm has no additional UDI
232	responsibilities with respect to the supplied device constituent part if:
233	
234	• The device constituent part already properly bears a UDI when received from the supplier
235	(and the device supplier has submitted required information to GUDID), ¹⁹ and
236	
237	• The label for the device constituent part is not replaced or modified when incorporated
238	into the combination product.
239	-
240	This is also true for device constituent parts received from a supplier as a device convenience kit
241	which properly bears a UDI. ²⁰
242	
243	Notably, the combination product may still have UDI requirements as discussed in section III.A.
244	
245	

¹⁸ See also guidance for industry and FDA staff *Unique Device Identification: Direct Marking of Devices* (November 2017).

¹⁹ The combination product sponsor should confirm the device constituent part properly bears a UDI and data is submitted to GUDID by checking Access GUDID (available at: <u>https://accessgudid.nlm.nih.gov/</u>) and/or by obtaining documentation from the supplier of the device constituent part that the data were submitted to GUDID, when required.

²⁰ See the "Co-Packaged Combination Products" bullet in section III.A of this guidance.

Draft — Not for Implementation

246D.How do I submit information to the Global Unique Device Identification247Database (GUDID) for my combination product?

- 248
- 249 Labelers of combination products with device constituent parts that are required to bear a UDI 250 on the device constituent part and/or the combination product are generally required to submit data pertaining to the combination product and/or device constituent parts to GUDID²¹ (see 21 251 CFR 830.300(a)), though see discussion in section III.C. Complying with UDI labeling and data 252 submission requirements is a multistep process. As a first step, we recommend you review the 253 information presented on FDA's UDI website.²² To submit information to GUDID, the labeler 254 first requests a GUDID account via the UDI website.²³ Opening a GUDID account generally 255 256 requires an FDA premarket authorization number or an active FDA listing number, which can be 257 a new drug application (NDA), biologics license application (BLA), abbreviated new drug 258 application (ANDA), premarket approval application (PMA), premarket notification (510(k)), de 259 novo classification request, product development protocol (PDP), or humanitarian device exemption (HDE) application number.^{24, 25} Firms that are not UDI labelers should not submit
- exemption (HDE) application number.^{24, 25} Firms that are not UDI labelers should not submit
 information to GUDID.
- 262 263

264 IV. EXAMPLES

265

The hypothetical examples in this section illustrate UDI considerations for single-entity and copackaged combination products.²⁶ This section is not intended to reflect a complete analysis of labeling and obligations for product identification that may apply, such as requirements related to

- 269 direct marking²⁷ or specific expectations for submitting information to GUDID. Specific
- 270 products and circumstances may raise distinct issues that are not considered in the hypothetical

²¹ For additional information on opening a GUDID account and submitting data to GUDID, see the guidance for industry and FDA staff *Global Unique Device Identification Database (GUDID)* (December 2024) and https://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/UniqueDeviceIdentification/GlobalUDIDatabaseGUDID/default.htm.

²² <u>https://www.fda.gov/udi</u>.

²³ See footnote 22.

²⁴ Combination product sponsors should list their combination products only with the lead Center, identifying the product as a combination product in the listing. Although not the focus of this guidance, sponsors should include UDI device identifier information in the registration and listing (R&L) databases. For additional information on R&L requirements applicable to device-led combination products, see Device Registration and Listing, available at https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/how-study-and-market-your-device/device-registration-and-listing. For additional information on R&L requirements applicable to drug- or biologic-led combination products, see Electronic Drug Registration and Listing System (eDRLS) available at https://www.fda.gov/drugs/guidance-compliance-regulatory-information/electronic-drug-registration-and-listing-system-edrls">https://www.fda.gov/drugs/guidance-compliance-regulatory-information/electronic-drug-registration-and-listing-system-edrls. See 21 CFR 3.4 for additional information on Center assignment for combination products, or contact OCP at combination@fda.gov. ²⁵ If your product is exempt from premarket notification, you may indicate the same in the GUDID. If, for any other reason, there is not an authorization number or active FDA listing number for your product, contact the FDA UDI HELP Desk at guidasupport@fda.hhs.gov for assistance.

²⁶ The examples assume the combination product contains at least one device constituent part that does not fall into an exception at 21 CFR 801.30 (unless otherwise noted), and assumes the use of UDI instead of UPC.

²⁷ See footnote 18.

271 272	scenarios presented below. If labelers have specific questions, contact the lead Center for the product or OCP, as needed, for assistance.
272	product of oct, as needed, for assistance.
273 274 275	A. Single-Entity Combination Product Examples
276	Example 1 . Device-led combination products – these products must bear a UDI and should <i>not</i>
277 278	bear an NDC, and the labeler must submit information to GUDID for the products for which it is a labeler. Examples may include drug eluting stents, drug eluting leads, antimicrobial coated
279	sutures, bone cements containing antibiotics, and condoms with spermicide.
280 281	Example ? Drug or high signation products if the combination product properly
281	Example 2 . Drug- or biologic-led combination products – if the combination product properly bears an NDC, 28 the combination product is not required to and should <i>not</i> bear a UDI.
283	Examples may include prefilled drug or biologic delivery devices (e.g., syringes, auto-injectors,
284	metered-dose inhalers, dry powder inhalers, nasal sprays, pumps, and transdermal systems), solid
285	oral dosage form drugs embedded with sensors, and contact lenses coated with drugs.
286	B. Co-Packaged Combination Product Examples
287 288	B. Co-Packaged Combination Product Examples
288 289	See section III.B for Agency recommendations regarding use of multiple identifiers including for
290	co-packaged combination products that are drug- or biologic-led combination products.
291	
292	Example 1 . A reusable auto-injector is co-packaged with a supply of drug cartridges. This
293 294	product properly bears an NDC on the label of the co-packaged, drug-led combination product.
295	• Scenario 1.A. Device constituent part that does not bear a UDI is supplied to the
296	combination product firm – the auto-injector device constituent part is packaged with
297	the drug cartridges, and the firm distributes that co-packaged combination product.
298	
299 300	- This firm is a labeler for the device constituent part and combination product. The firm must submit information to GUDID for the products for which it is the labeler.
300 301	mini must submit information to GODID for the products for which it is the labeler.
302	Because the combination product properly bears an NDC, a UDI is not required on it.
303	
304	For the device constituent part, the firm must place a UDI either on the label of the
305	auto-injector within the co-package or the label for the combination product – we
306	recommend the UDI be on the device constituent parts (see section III.B).
307	
308	• Scenario 1.B. Device constituent part that bears a UDI is supplied to the
309 310	combination product firm – the auto-injector is supplied from a device manufacturer to the firm that packages and distributes the co-packaged combination product. The auto-
311	injector is received with a UDI on the label and the device supplier has submitted related

²⁸ See footnote 11.

212				
312	information to GUDID. The combination product firm includes its contact name and			
313	address on the label of the co-packaged combination product but does not alter the label			
314	on the device constituent part when placing it into the combination product co-package.			
315				
316	- The combination product firm is not a labeler for the device constituent part (see			
317	footnote 1) but should confirm the device constituent part properly bears a UDI and			
318	data is submitted to GUDID.			
319				
320	A UDI is not required on the label of the combination product because it properly			
321	bears an NDC.			
322				
323	The device constituent part has a UDI and so a UDI is not needed on the label of the			
324	combination product and we recommend a UDI not be on the label of the			
325	combination product (see section III.B).			
326				
327	Example 2 . A combination product co-package consisting of a vial of lyophilized powder, vial			
328	of diluent, and three device constituent parts – a syringe, a vial adapter, and a needle. This			
329	product properly bears an NDC on the label of the co-packaged, drug-led combination product.			
330	product property dears an NDC on the laber of the co-packaged, drug-red combination product.			
331	• Scenario 2.A. Some device constituent parts bear UDIs and are supplied to the			
332	combination product firm, others do not bear UDI – the needle is received by the			
333	combination product firm already sterilized and individually labeled with a UDI and the			
334	labeler has submitted information to GUDID. The needle label is not modified by the			
335	combination product firm. The syringe and vial adapters are received in bulk with no			
336	individual UDIs. The combination product firm sterilizes the syringes and vial adapters			
337	before including them in the co-package.			
338				
339	- The combination product firm is a labeler for the syringe and vial adapter device			
340	constituent parts. The firm must submit information to GUDID for the products for			
341	which it is the labeler. The combination product firm is not the labeler for the needle			
342	but should confirm the device constituent part properly bears a UDI and data is			
343	submitted to GUDID.			
344				
345	A UDI is not required on the label of the combination product because it properly			
346	bears an NDC.			
347				
348	For the device constituent parts, the firm must place UDIs either on the label of the			
349	syringe and vial adapter or on the label of the combination product – we recommend			
350	the UDI be on the device constituent parts (see section III.B).			
351				
352	• Scenario 2.B. Device constituent parts that are a device convenience kit with a UDI			
353	and are supplied to the combination product firm – A supplier packages a syringe,			
354	vial adapter, and needle into a device convenience kit, sterilizes the convenience kit, and			
	-			
355	provides the convenience kit to the combination product firm. The convenience kit is			

356	provided labeled with a UDI and the convenience kit labeler has submitted information to			
357	GUDID. The combination product firm makes no changes to this device convenience			
358	kit ²⁹ and places the convenience kit into a co-package with the two vials.			
359				
360	- The combination product firm should confirm the device convenience kit properly			
361	bears a UDI and data is submitted to GUDID.			
362				
363	A UDI is not required on the label of the combination product because it properly			
364	bears an NDC.			
365				
366	The combination product firm is not a labeler for the device constituent parts and			
367	does not need to generate UDI for the device constituent parts.			
368	does not need to generate o'D' for the device constituent parts.			
369	Example 3 . A drug-led, co-packaged combination product that properly bears an NDC on its			
370	label, contains, in addition to its drug constituent part, only device constituent part(s) that would			
370				
	be otherwise GMP exempt or otherwise class I devices.			
372				
373	• Scenario 3.A. Combination product includes, in addition to its drug constituent			
374	part, only a device constituent part or parts that would be otherwise GMP exempt –			
375	A liquid oral drug product is co-packaged with an oral dosing cup. The oral dosing cup			
376	in the combination product would be otherwise GMP exempt (see 21 CFR 880.6430 and			
377	footnote 8).			
378				
379	- The device constituent part is excepted from UDI requirements and the combination			
380	product is therefore considered not subject to UDI requirements.			
381				
382	• Scenario 3.B. Combination product includes a device constituent part that would be			
383	otherwise a class I device that is not GMP exempt – Several single-use obstetric-			
384	gynecologic general manual instruments (e.g., a vaginal applicator) are co-packaged with			
385	a therapeutic drug product. These devices would be otherwise class I devices that are <i>not</i>			
386	GMP exempt (see 21 CFR 884.4520).			
387	1 (
388	- The firm must submit information to GUDID for the products for which it is the			
389	labeler.			
390				
391	A UDI is not required on the label of the combination product because it properly			
392	bears an NDC.			
392 393				
393 394	The individual device constituent parts or the label of the combination and device			
	The individual device constituent parts or the label of the combination product must			
395	bear a UDI; the UDI does not need to include the production identifier (21 CFR			

 $^{^{29}}$ For this example, the devices are intended to remain packaged together and not to be replaced, substituted, repackaged, sterilized or otherwise processed or modified before being used by an end user (a *device convenience kit*, see also footnote 15).

Draft — Not for Implementation

396801.30(d)). We recommend the UDI be on the device constituent parts and not the397combination product label (see section III.B).

Draft — Not for Implementation

398 Appendix - Summary of the UDI requirements and related recommendations for 399 combination products and their device constituent parts

400

- 401 This table assumes the combination product contains at least one device constituent part that
- does not fall into an exception at 21 CFR 801.30(a)(1) (10), see section III.A, and assumes the 402 403 use of unique device identifier (UDI) instead of universal product code (UPC).
- 404

Combination Product Type	Combination Product UDI Requirements	Device Constituent Part UDI Requirements	Related Recommendations
	Device-led combination products – Satisfied by having a UDI	N/A because there is no separate label for the device constituent part(s)	Device-led combination products – Should not bear an NDC
Single-Entity Combination Products	Drug- or biologic-led combination products – UDI not required if combination product properly bears a National Drug Code (NDC)		Drug- or biologic-led combination products – Recommend no UDI on the combination product if the combination product properly bears an NDC
	Device-led combination products – Satisfied by having a UDI	 Satisfied by: 1) Having a UDI on each device constituent part not excepted from UDI requirements; or 2) Having a UDI on the combination product 	Device-led combination products – Should not bear an NDC
Co-packaged Combination Products ¹	Drug- or biologic-led combination products – UDI not required if combination product properly bears an NDC		Drug- or biologic-led co- packaged combination products (and the device constituent part(s) thereof) – Recommend UDI on each device constituent part (or device convenience kit) and no UDI on the combination product if the combination product properly bears an NDC <i>Continued</i>

405 406

¹ FDA understands that for some of these combination products, labelers may be able to identify each device constituent part based on information captured in the product identifier and the combination product's quality system. See section III.B.

Draft — Not for Implementation

407 408 Continued

Combination Product Type	Combination Product UDI Requirements	Device Constituent Part UDI Requirements	Related Recommendations
Cross- Labeled Combination Products	N/A because there is no single combination product label	Satisfied by having a UDI on each device constituent part not excepted from UDI requirements	N/A

409